

CHAPTER 457—S.F.No.1462

[Coded]

An act relating to motor vehicles; registration and taxation thereof; authorizing agreements with other states for the proportional registration of certain vehicles and providing the method of computing the tax therefor and the administration thereof; providing penalties; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1969, Chapter 168, by adding a section.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of the State of Minnesota:

Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1969, Chapter 168, is amended by adding a section to read:

[168.187] MOTOR VEHICLES; INTERSTATE REGISTRATION AND RECIPROCITY. Subdivision 1. DECLARATION OF POLICY. It is the policy of this state to promote and encourage the fullest possible use of its highway system by authorizing the making of agreements, arrangements, and declarations with other jurisdictions, for reciprocal recognition of vehicle registrations and/or for proportional registration, with respect to vehicles registered in this state and such other jurisdictions, thus contributing to the economic and social development and growth of this state. It is the policy of this state to agree with other states that no vehicle shall pay more than the equivalent of one full registration fee per annum.

Subd. 2. DEFINITIONS APPLICABLE TO THIS SECTION. (1) The words, terms and phrases defined in section 168.011, when used in this section, shall have the same meanings herein as is ascribed to them in section 168.011, unless the context otherwise requires, or unless a different definition is given in this section.

(2) The words and phrases hereafter defined in this section shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them when used in this section, except when the context otherwise requires.

Subd. 3. STATE. "State" means a state, territory or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, a foreign country and a state or province of a foreign country.

Subd. 4. PRORATABLE VEHICLE. "Proratable vehicle" means any vehicle which is operated in more than one state and used for the transportation of persons for hire, or designed, used or maintained primarily for the transportation of property.

Subd. 5. FLEET. "Fleet" means three or more proratable vehicles, at least two of which are motor powered vehicles. The motor vehicle reciprocity commission may by agreement with another

Changes or additions indicated by underline, deletions by strikøout.

state provide that a fleet of this state and another state may consist of a lesser number of vehicles.

Subd. 6. MOTOR VEHICLE RECIPROCITY COMMISSION. There is hereby created a "motor vehicle reciprocity commission" consisting of the following five members or their duly authorized delegate from the same department:

The attorney general, the commissioner of public safety, the commissioner of highways, the commissioner of taxation, and a commissioner of the public service commission. The commission may appoint from the department of public safety an executive secretary at no additional compensation except necessary expenses incurred in carrying out the provisions of this act.

The motor vehicle reciprocity commission may enter into agreements of interstate registration and reciprocity and may administer any necessary functions and make such rules as may be required to effectively carry out the intent of this act.

Subd. 7. AUTHORITY TO MAKE VEHICLE REGISTRATION AGREEMENTS, ARRANGEMENTS OR DECLARATIONS. The motor vehicle reciprocity commission may enter into any agreement or arrangement with the duly authorized representatives of other states or make any independent declaration, granting to vehicles or to owners of vehicles which are properly registered or licensed in another state, benefits, privileges, and exemptions from the payment, wholly, or partially, of any registration taxes, fees, or other charges imposed upon such vehicles or owners with respect to the operation or ownership of such vehicles under the laws of this state, upon such conditions as are specified therein, provided the terms or conditions of such agreement, arrangement, or declaration are not inconsistent with any law of this state.

Any such agreement or arrangement shall be made in writing and shall provide that vehicles properly registered or licensed in this state, when operated upon highways of the other state, shall receive exemptions, benefits, and privileges of a similar kind or to a similar degree as are extended to vehicles properly registered or licensed in such state when operated in this state. Any such declaration shall contemplate and provide for mutual benefits, reciprocal privileges or equitable treatment of the owners of vehicles registered in this and the other state. Each such agreement, arrangement, or declaration shall, in the judgment of the motor vehicle reciprocity commission, be in the best interest of this state and the citizens thereof and shall be fair and equitable with respect to the benefits which the agreement brings to the economy of this state.

Subd. 8. BASE STATE RECIPROCITY. (1) Any agreement, arrangement, or declaration made under the authority of this act may

Changes or additions indicated by underline, deletions by ~~strikeout~~.

contain provisions authorizing the registration or licensing in another state of vehicles based in such other state, which vehicles otherwise would be required to be registered or licensed in this state, except that such provisions shall not apply to passenger cars.

(2) For the purpose of this section, a vehicle shall be deemed to be based in the state where it is most frequently dispatched, garaged, serviced, maintained, operated or otherwise controlled.

(3) For the purpose of this section, the owner of a vehicle shall declare the state in which it is based, but the final determination of the state in which a vehicle is based shall be made by the motor vehicle reciprocity commission of this state for the purpose of determining liability for registration and other fees and penalties due this state. To the extent possible, the motor vehicle reciprocity commission of this state shall be governed by the criteria specified in this section, and agreement with the administrator of any other interested state.

(4) Any agreement, arrangement, or declaration made under this section may grant exemptions, benefits, and privileges for vehicles in accordance with the terms thereof.

Subd. 9. PROVISIONS TO BE IN EVERY AGREEMENT, ARRANGEMENT AND DECLARATION. (1) Every agreement, arrangement, and declaration, and amendment thereto and cancellation thereof, shall be in writing and shall be filed in the office of the commissioner of public safety. A copy of each agreement, arrangement or declaration, and of each amendment thereto and cancellation thereof, shall be filed by the motor vehicle reciprocity commission in the office of the commissioner of public safety within 10 days after execution or the effective date of the instrument, whichever is later. The commissioner of public safety shall provide copies for public distribution upon request and the payment of a reasonable charge.

(2) Every agreement, arrangement and declaration made under authority of this act shall contain a provision authorizing the motor vehicle reciprocity commission to cancel and revoke the agreement with respect to this state upon 30 days notice to the other party or parties thereto.

(3) All agreements, arrangements, and declarations made under authority of this act shall contain a provision specifying that no registration, permit privilege or exemption issued or accruing thereunder, shall excuse the operator or owner of any vehicle from compliance with the laws of this state, except those requiring registration.

Subd. 10. FEES FOR PROPORTIONAL REGISTRATION. (1) "Total fleet miles" means the total number of miles operated in all

Changes or additions indicated by underline, deletions by ~~strikeout~~.

states during the preceding year by the motor vehicles in a fleet during such year.

(2) "In-state miles" means the total number of miles operated in this state during the preceding year by the motor vehicles in a fleet during such year.

(3) The registration fees for proratable vehicles of a fleet based in another state shall be determined as follows:

(A) Divide in-state miles by total fleet miles.

(B) Determine the total amount which would be required under the laws of this state for full registration of each and every vehicle in the fleet, at the regular annual or applicable fees, for the unexpired portion of the registration year.

(C) Multiply the sum obtained under clause (3) (B) of this subdivision by the quotient obtained under clause (3) (A) of this subdivision.

(4) The registration fees for proratable vehicles of a fleet based in this state shall be determined as follows:

(A) Divide in-state miles plus all other fleet miles not subjected to charges in other states nor declared for other prorate agreement states by total fleet miles.

(B) Determine the total amount which would be required under the laws of this state for full registration of each and every vehicle in the fleet, at the regular annual or applicable fees for the unexpired portion of the registration year.

(C) Multiply the sum obtained under clause (4) (B) of this subdivision by the quotient under clause (4) (A) of this subdivision.

(5) The provisions of this section shall constitute complete authority for the registration of the proratable vehicles of a fleet upon a proportional registration basis without reference to or application of any other statutes of this state except as in this section expressly provided.

Subd. 11. APPLICATION FOR PROPORTIONAL REGISTRATION. (1) Any owner of one or more fleets may file an application for proportional registration of the vehicles of one or more of such fleets with the commissioner of public safety, in lieu of registration of such vehicles under other sections of chapter 168. The application shall be in such form as the motor vehicle reciprocity commission shall prescribe and shall contain such information as the commission shall require.

Changes or additions indicated by underline, deletions by ~~strikeout~~.

(2) Applications for prorational registration shall be filed annually at such time or times as the motor vehicle reciprocity commission establishes by rule. Every application for proportional registration shall at the time and in the manner required by the motor vehicle reciprocity commission be supported by the payment of the registration fees in the amount determined in the manner provided in subdivision 10.

Subd. 12. REGISTRATION OF PRORATABLE VEHICLES. (1) The commissioner of public safety shall register proratable vehicles of a fleet upon application and payment of registration fees as provided in subdivision 11. Payment of an additional fee for each vehicle so registered may be required by the motor vehicle reciprocity commission in an amount not to exceed \$5 per motor powered vehicle, for issuance of a plate, sticker, or other suitable identification for each vehicle. A registration card shall be issued for each vehicle registered, which shall appropriately identify the vehicle for which it is issued. Such registration card shall be carried in or upon the vehicle for which it has been issued, at all times, except that the registration cards for all vehicles in a combination of vehicles may be carried in or upon the vehicle supplying the motive power.

(2) Fleet vehicles registered as provided in (1) of this subdivision shall be deemed fully registered in this state for any type of movement or operation, except that when a state grant of authority is required for any movement or operation, no such vehicle shall be operated in this state unless the owner or operator thereof has been granted authority or rights therefor by the public service commission and unless said vehicle is being operated in conformity with such authority or rights. No registration under this section shall excuse the owner or operator of any vehicle from compliance with the laws of this state, except those requiring registration and licensing.

Subd. 13. NO PROPORTIONAL REGISTRATION IN ONLY ONE STATE. The right of proportional registration of fleet vehicles authorized by this act, or by any agreement, arrangement, or declaration made under the authority of this act, shall be subject to the condition that each vehicle proportionally registered shall be proportionally or otherwise properly registered in at least one other state during the period for which it is proportionally registered in this state.

Subd. 14. REGISTRATION OF ADDITIONAL FLEET VEHICLES. Vehicles acquired by the owner after the commencement of the registration year and added to a proportionally registered fleet shall be proportionally registered by applying the mileage percentage used in the original application for such fleet for such registration period to the regular registration fees due with respect to such vehicles for the remainder of the registration year.

Changes or additions indicated by underline, deletions by strikeout.

Subd. 15. WITHDRAWAL OF FLEET, CREDITS, AND ACCOUNTING. If any vehicle is withdrawn from a proportionally registered fleet during the period for which it is registered, the owner of such fleet shall so notify the commissioner of public safety. The commissioner of public safety may require the owner to surrender cab cards and such other identification devices with respect to such vehicle. If a vehicle is permanently withdrawn from a proportionally registered fleet because it has been destroyed, sold or otherwise completely removed from the service of the owner, the unused portion of the fees paid with respect to such vehicle shall be applied against liability of such owner for subsequent additions to such fleet during such registration year or for additional fees upon audit. The unused portion of fees of a vehicle permanently withdrawn from a fleet shall be a sum equal to the amount paid with respect to such vehicle when it was first proportionally registered in such registration year, reduced by $\frac{1}{2}$ of the total annual proportional registration fee applicable to such vehicle for each calendar month of the registration year including the month the notice of withdrawal is received by the commissioner of public safety, except that no unused portion of fees of less than \$5 shall be considered or applied. No unused portion of fees shall be applied against fees other than those for the same registration year, and no unused portion shall be refunded.

Subd. 16. NEW FLEETS. The initial application for proportional registration of a fleet shall state the mileage data with respect to such fleet for the preceding year in this and other states. If no operations were conducted with such fleet during the preceding year, the application shall contain a full statement of the proposed method of operation and estimates of annual mileage in this and other states. The commissioner of public safety shall determine the in-state and total fleet miles to be used in computing the proportional registration fee for the fleet. The commissioner of public safety may adjust the estimate in the application if he is not satisfied with its correctness.

Subd. 17. TRIP PERMITS. The commission may, subject to agreements or arrangements made or entered into pursuant to subdivision 7 issue trip permits for use of Minnesota highways by individual vehicles, on an occasional basis, for periods not to exceed 96 hours in compliance with rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to subdivision 23 and upon payment of a fee of \$10.

Subd. 18. REFUSAL OF PROPORTIONAL REGISTRATION. The motor vehicle reciprocity commission may refuse proportional registration of vehicles based in another state if it finds that such other state does not grant similar registration privileges to fleet vehicles based in this state and that such refusal is in the best interest of this state.

Changes or additions indicated by underline, deletions by ~~strikeout~~.

Subd. 19. PRESERVATION OF RECORDS AND AUDIT. Any owner whose application for proportional registration has been accepted shall preserve the records on which it is based for a period of four years following the date of its filing. Each acceptance shall be conditioned upon agreement of the owner to make such records available to the commissioner of public safety, at his request, for audit as to accuracy of computations and payments and assessments of deficiencies or allowances for credit. If any owner fails to make records available to the commissioner of public safety upon request or fails to maintain records from which his true liability may be determined, the commissioner may, 30 days after a written demand for availability of records or notification of insufficient records, impose an arbitrary assessment of liability based on the commissioner's estimate of the true liability of such owner as determined from information furnished by the owner, information gathered by the commissioner at his own instance, information available to the commissioner concerning operations by similar owners and such other pertinent information as may be available to the commissioner.

Subd. 20. JOINT OR RECIPROCAL AUDITS. The commissioner of public safety may make arrangements with agencies of other states administering motor vehicle registration laws for joint or reciprocal audits of any owner.

Subd. 21. ASSESSMENTS AND CLAIMS UPON AUDIT. Upon audit, the commissioner of public safety shall assess for any deficiencies found to be due. No assessment for deficiency or claim for credit may be made for any period for which records are no longer required. Any sums found to be due and owing upon audit shall bear annual interest of six percent from the date when they should have been paid until the date of actual payment. If in the judgment of the commissioner of public safety the deficiencies are the result of bad faith or an attempt to evade payment under this act, a penalty of 25 percent shall be added to the deficiency.

Subd. 22. RELATION TO OTHER STATE LAWS. The provisions of this act shall constitute complete authority for the registration of fleet vehicles upon a proportional-registration basis without reference to or application of any other statutes of this state except as in this section expressly provided.

Subd. 23. PROPORTIONAL REGISTRATION NOT EXCLUSIVE. Nothing contained in this act relating to proportional registration of fleet vehicles shall be construed as requiring any vehicle to be proportionally registered; if it is otherwise registered in this state for the operation in which it is engaged including, but not by way of limitation, regular registration, temporary registration, or trip permit or registration.

Changes or additions indicated by underline, deletions by ~~strikeout~~.

Subd. 24. ADMINISTRATIVE AGREEMENTS AND RULES. The motor vehicle reciprocity commission may enter into agreements or arrangements with other states on behalf of this state for proportional registration of proratable vehicles in the manner provided in this act for the purpose of facilitating the administration thereof. In addition it may make arrangements or agreements with other states for the exchange of information for audit and enforcement activities in connection with such proportional registration. The motor vehicle reciprocity commission may adopt such rules pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 15, as may be necessary to effectuate and administer the provisions of this act. The registration of fleet vehicles under this act shall be subject to the rights, terms and conditions granted or contained in any applicable agreement or arrangement made by the motor vehicle reciprocity commission under the authority of this act.

Subd. 25. APPEAL PROCEDURE. Any fleet owner operating under license and fee procedures of this section, upon disagreement with the commissioner of public safety, in his administration of this section, may appeal in writing to the motor vehicle reciprocity commission stating clearly their rationale for disagreement with any procedure or decision.

Sec. 2. There is hereby appropriated from monies in the highway user tax distribution fund the sum of \$50,000 for the biennium to carry out the provisions of this act.

Sec. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This act is effective September 1, 1971, for the year 1972 and subsequent years.

Approved May 21, 1971.

CHAPTER 458—S.F.No.1464

[Not Coded]

An act relating to the county of Dakota; powers of the county board in planning and zoning.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of the State of Minnesota:

Section 1. **DAKOTA COUNTY; PLANNING AND ZONING; COMPREHENSIVE PLAN.** Notwithstanding any provision of Minnesota Statutes, Section 394.23 to the contrary, the board of county commissioners of the county of Dakota may prepare a comprehensive

Changes or additions indicated by underline, deletions by ~~strikeout~~.